RECORDED - 099863 JEFF L. THIGPEN REGISTER OF DEEDS GUILFORD COUNTY, NC BOOK: 6562 PAGE(S):1166 TO 1204 07/11/2006 10:27:53

07/11/2006 GUILFORD CO. NC 1 MISC DOCUMENTS 99863 38 MISC DOC ADDN PGS \$12.00 \$114.00

1 PROBATE FEE

\$2.00

After Recording Return to: Keith D. Burns Morris, Manning & Martin, LLP PO Box 12768 RTP, NC 27709

DECLARATION OF

COVENANTS, RESTRICTIONS AND EASEMENTS

FOR

MENDENHALL MILL

This document prohibits the display of political signs.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I. DEFINITIONS	
ARTICLE II. PROPERTY SUBMITTED TO THIS DECLARATION	
Section 1. Lots Hereby Subjected to this Declaration	3
Section 2. Annexation of Additional Property	3
Section 3 Withdrawal of Property	3
Section 4. All Lots Bear the Burdens and Enjoy the Benefits of this Declaration	3
Section 5. Easements Over the Lots	3
ARTICLE III. ASSOCIATION PROPERTY	4
Section 1. Common Areas and Association Property	4
Section 2. Member's Rights in Association Property	4
Section 3. Easements Over Association Property	4
Section 4. Condemnation	5
Section 5. Damage or Destruction	5
Section 6. Actions Requiring Owner Approval	5
Section 7. No Partition	
Section 8. Insurance	6
Section 9. Taxes and Governmental Assessments	
Section 10. Watershed Protection	
ARTICLE IV. THE ASSOCIATION	
Section 1. The Association	6
Section 2. Membership	7
Section 3. Classes of Membership; Voting Rights	7
Section 4. Suspension of Membership Rights	7
Section 5. Meetings of the Membership	7
Section 6. Association Acts Through Its Board of Directors	
Section 7. Professional Management	7
ARTICLE V. ASSESSMENTS	7
Section 1. Creation of Lien and Personal Obligation	8
Section 2. Purposes of Assessments	8
Section 3. Determination of Annual Assessments and Shares Thereof	
Section 4. Special Assessments	9
Section 5. Specific Assessments	8
Section 6. Special Assessment for Working Capital Reserve	9
Section 7. Effect of Non-Payment of Assessments; Remedies of the Association	9
Section 8. Budget Deficits During Declarant Control Period	9
Section 9. Failure to Assess	
ARTICLE VI. ARCHITECTURAL CONTROL	
Section 1. Architectural Restrictions on Buildings, Structures and Fences	
Section 2. No Combination of Lots	
Section 3. Architectural Control	
Section 4. Declarant Exemption	
Section 5. Architectural Control Committee	11

ARTICLE VII. RESTRICTIONS	
Section 1. Residential Use	
Section 2. Prohibited Activities	11
Section 3. Nuisances	12
Section 4. Animals	12
Section 5. Antennas; Aerials; Satellite Dishes	12
Section 6. Clotheslines	12
Section 7. Signs	12
Section 8. Trash Containers and Collection	12
Section 9. Vehicles and Parking	13
Section 10. Window Air-Conditioners	13
Section 11. Window Treatments	13
Section 12. Lighting	13
Section 13. Mailboxes	13
Section 14. Play Equipment	13
Section 15. Stoops, Driveways, Decks, Patio Areas and Storage Sheds	13
Section 16. Swimming Pools	13
Section 17. Trees	14
Section 18. No Subdivision of Lots	14
Section 19. Interpretation	14
Section 20. No Waiver of Future Approvals	14
ARTICLE VIII. MAINTENANCE	14
Section 1. Association's Maintenance Responsibility	l 4
Section 2. Owner's Maintenance Responsibility	14
Section 3. Individual Insurance	15
ARTICLE IX. MORTGAGEE PROVISIONS	
Section 1. Notice of Action	15
Section 2. Audit	
Section 3. No Priority	15
Section 4. HUD/VA Approval	15
Section 5. Failure of Mortgagee to Respond	
ARTICLE X. AMENDMENT	
ARTICLE XI. MISCELLANEOUS	
Section 1. Failure of Enforcement	
Section 2. No Waivers	
Section 3. Duration	
Section 4. Notices	
Section 5. Severability	
Section 6. Judicial Proceedings	
Section /. Successors to Deciarant	10

DECLARATION OF COVENANTS, RESTRICTIONS AND EASEMENTS FOR MENDENHALL MILL

THIS DECLARATION OF COVENANTS, RESTRICTIONS AND EASEMENTS is made by Mendenhall Mill Development, LLC, a Florida limited liability company (hereinafter referred to as the "Declarant").

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Declarant is the owner, or has the consent of the owner, of all that tract or parcel of land approximately Fifty Two and Six Hundred Eighty Seven One Thousandths (52.687) acres lying and being located in Guilford County, North Carolina as shown on the Final Plat for Mendenhall Mill recorded in Plat Book Pages Outliferd County, North Carolina Registry (hereinafter referred to as the "Property"); and

WHEREAS, Declarant intends to impose on the Property mutually beneficial restrictions under a general plan of improvement for the benefit of the owners of each portion of the Property and to establish a procedure for the overall development, administration, maintenance and preservation of the Property; and

WHEREAS, in furtherance of such plan, it is desirable to create an association to own, operate and maintain the Area of Common Responsibility (as defined below), to administer and enforce the covenants and restrictions imposed hereby and to collect, hold, and disburse the charges and assessments provided in the Declaration; and

WHEREAS, it is intended that every owner of any of the Lots automatically, and by reason of such ownership in this Declaration, become a member of the Association and be subject to its rules, regulations, assessments and charges;

NOW, THEREFORE, Declarant does hereby submit the Property to the provisions of this Declaration. This document establishes a mandatory membership Owners association.

ARTICLE I. DEFINITIONS

As used in this Declaration, the following terms shall have the meanings ascribed to them in this Article, such definitions being cumulative of those set forth elsewhere in this Declaration.

"Additional Property" shall mean any and all real property lying and being within five (5) miles of the Property.

"Annual Assessment" shall have the meaning specified in the Article entitled "ASSESSMENTS", and shall constitute the assessments which, pursuant to the provisions of such Article, shall be levied by the Association against the Lots each year for the purpose of raising the funds necessary to pay the "Annual Expenses" (as that term is defined in such Article).

"Architectural Control Committee" ("ACC") shall mean those individuals with the authority to review plans and specifications as more fully described in Article VI of this Declaration.

"Area of Common Responsibility" shall mean the Common Areas, as further defined in Article III of this Declaration, together with those areas, if any, which by the terms of this Declaration or by contract or agreement with any other person become the responsibility of the Association.

"Articles of Incorporation" shall mean the Articles of Incorporation of the Association, as the same may be amended from time to time.

BK 6562 PG 1170

- "Association" shall mean Mendenhall Mill Homeowners Association, Inc., a North Carolina non-profit corporation.
- "Board of Directors" shall mean the body responsible for the administration of the Association, selected as provided in the Bylaws.
 - "Bylaws" shall mean the Bylaws of the Association, as the same may be amended from time to time.
- "Declarant" shall mean Mendenhall Mill Development, LLC, a Florida limited liability company and shall include any successor or assign who shall acquire any portion of the Property for the purpose of development and/or sale and who is designated as the Declarant in a recorded instrument executed by the immediately preceding Declarant; provided, however, that there shall be only one "Declarant" hereunder at any one time.
- "Declaration" shall mean this Declaration of Covenants, Restrictions and Easements, as the same may be hereafter amended in accordance with the terms hereof.
- "Development Period" shall mean the period of time during which the Declarant owns any property that is subject to this Declaration or has the unilateral right to subject Additional Property to this Declaration pursuant to Article II. The Declarant may, but shall not be obligated to, unilaterally relinquish its rights under this Declaration and terminate the Development Period by recording a written instrument with the Register of Deeds.
- "First Mortgage" shall mean a deed or other document by means of which title to any Lot is conveyed or encumbered to secure a debt of first priority.
- "Improved Lot" shall mean a Lot (i) upon which there is located a structure for which a certificate of occupancy has been issued by the applicable governmental authority, and (ii) which has been sold to a Person who is not the Declarant.
- "Lot" shall mean each portion of the Property which may be independently owned and conveyed and which is intended for development, use, and occupancy as a detached residence for a single family, as shown on the Plat. The term "Lot" includes both "Improved Lots" and "Unimproved Lots"
 - "Member" shall mean a Person subject to membership in the Association pursuant to Article IV hereof.
- "Owner" shall mean any Person who is or shall be a record owner by purchase, transfer, assignment or foreclosure of a fee or undivided fee interest in a Lot; provided, however, that any Person who holds such interest merely as security for the performance of an obligation shall not be an Owner.
 - "Person" shall mean a natural person, corporation, trust, partnership or any other legal entity.
- "Plat" shall mean the Final Plat of MENDENHALL MILL prepared by Trick Series, recorded in the Register of Deeds Office, at Plat Book 16, Pages 70, together with all amendments thereto and any and all other plats that are hereafter recorded in the plat book records of the Register of Deeds, pursuant to the provisions of the Declaration.
 - "Property" shall have the meaning ascribed to it hereinabove.
 - "Register of Deeds" shall mean the Guilford County, North Carolina Register of Deeds.
- "Supplemental Declaration" shall mean an instrument filed with the Register of Deeds which imposes additional restrictions and/or obligations on the land described in such instrument.
 - "Unimproved Lot" shall mean a Lot which is not an Improved Lot.

ARTICLE II. PROPERTY SUBMITTED TO THIS DECLARATION

Section 1. Lots Hereby Subjected to this Declaration. The Declarant, for itself and its successors and assigns, does hereby submit the Property and the Lots to this Declaration. Every Owner, by taking record title to a Lot, agrees to all of the terms and provisions of this Declaration. Each of the Lots is subject to all the burdens, and enjoys all the benefits, made applicable hereunder.

The Property shall hereafter be held, transferred, sold, conveyed, used, leased, occupied, mortgaged or otherwise encumbered subject to all of the terms, provisions, liens, charges, easements, covenants and restrictions set forth in this Declaration, including, but not limited to, the lien provisions set forth herein. All of the terms, provisions, liens, charges, easements, covenants and restrictions set forth in this Declaration as applicable to the Lots shall be a permanent charge thereon, and shall run with the Lots.

Section 2. Annexation of Additional Property. The Declarant may, at any time, and from time to time, prior to ten years from the date hereof, subject all or part of the Additional Property to the terms, provisions, liens, charges, easements, covenants and restrictions of this Declaration by executing and recording with the Register of Deeds an amendment to this Declaration describing the property being annexed.

From and after such recording, the annexed property shall be held, transferred, sold, conveyed, used, leased, occupied, mortgaged or otherwise encumbered subject to all of the terms, provisions, liens, charges, easements, covenants and restrictions of this Declaration, including, without limitation, all lien and assessment provisions set forth in this Declaration, and all of the terms, provisions, liens, charges, easements, covenants and restrictions set forth in this Declaration shall be a permanent charge on, and shall run with, such annexed property.

In addition to the controls, covenants, conditions, restrictions, easements, development guidelines, charges and liens set forth in this Declaration, Declarant shall further have the right at its election, without the consent of any Owner or Owners, to subject any such annexed property to additional controls, covenants, conditions, restrictions, easements, development guidelines, charges and liens by filing a Supplemental Declaration with the Register of Deeds covering only such annexed property. The Association shall have the right and authority to enforce all controls, covenants, conditions, restrictions, easements, and developments contained in such additional declaration. Any such Supplemental Declaration may supplement, create exceptions to, or otherwise modify the terms of this Declaration as it applies to the annexed property in order to reflect the different character and intended use of such property.

No approval from any member of the Association, or from anyone else whomsoever, shall be required for the Declarant to subject additional property to this Declaration.

Section 3. Withdrawal of Property. The Declarant reserves the right to amend this Declaration during the Development Period, for the purpose of removing any portion of the Property from the coverage of this Declaration, provided such withdrawal is not contrary to the overall, uniform scheme of development for the Property. Such amendment shall not require the consent of any Person other than the Owner of the property to be withdrawn, if same is not the Declarant.

Section 4. All Lots Bear the Burdens and Enjoy the Benefits of this Declaration. Every Owner, by taking record title to a Lot, agrees to all of the terms and provisions of this Declaration. Each of the Lots is subject to all burdens, and enjoys all benefits, made applicable hereunder.

Section 5. Easements Over the Lots. The Lots shall be subjected to, and the Declarant does hereby grant, the following non-exclusive perpetual easements for the enjoyment of Declarant, the Association, the Members, the Owners, and the successors-in-title of each:

BK 6562 PG 1172

- (a) <u>Easements Shown on Plat</u>. Each Lot shall be subject to all easements, borders, buffers and the like which are shown and depicted on the Plat as affecting and burdening such Lot.
- (b) <u>Slope Control</u>. Each Lot shall be subject to an easement for slope control purposes, including the right to grade and plant slopes and prevent the doing of any activity that might interfere with slopes or which might create erosion or sliding problems or which might change, obstruct or retard drainage flow.
- (c) <u>Authorized Entry</u>. Each Lot shall be subject to an easement for the entry by the authorized agents and representatives of the Association to go upon such Lot under such circumstances and for such purposes as are described elsewhere in this Declaration.
- (d) <u>Inadvertent Encroachments</u>. Each Lot shall have a three foot easement as measured from the common boundary between such Lot and any adjoining Lot for purposes of driveways or fence encroachments which may be erected in said easement areas, unless such encroachment was due to a willful act of the Lot Owner.
- (e) <u>Drainage</u>. Each Lot shall be subject to a perpetual easement in favor of the Association and all other Lots for the drainage of surface waters over and across such Lot.

ARTICLE III. ASSOCIATION PROPERTY

Section 1. Common Areas and Association Property. The Declarant shall have the right to transfer and convey to the Association any portion of the Property. All portions of the Property which the Declarant shall so transfer or convey to the Association shall thereafter constitute Common Areas. Said right may be exercised by the Declarant any time, and from time to time, prior to ten years from the date hereof.

The Common Areas shall be conveyed to the Association by limited warranty deed free of debt encumbrance, and subject to the rights and easements set forth in this Article, irrespective of whether the deed of conveyance shall make a specific reference to such rights and easements.

Section 2. Member's Rights in Association Property. Every Owner of any Lot shall have a non-exclusive right and easement of enjoyment and use in and to the Common Areas and such right and easement shall be appurtenant to, and shall pass with, the title to the Lot(s) owned by such Owner. Such right and easement of enjoyment and use are and shall be subject to the easements which are described in this Article and to the right of the Association to promulgate reasonable rules and regulations regarding the use of Common Areas, and the right of the Association, as provided in the Bylaws, to suspend the enjoyment rights of the owner of any Lot during any period in which any assessment which is due to the Association from such owner remains unpaid, and such period as the Board of Directors may consider appropriate for any infraction of its published rules and regulations. In addition, the Board of Directors may permit other persons who are not residents of any Lots to use the Common Areas upon such terms and conditions, and for the payment of such fees, as shall be determined by the Board of Directors.

Section 3. Easements Over Association Property. The Property and all Common Areas shall be subject to, and Declarant and the Association do hereby grant, the following easements:

- (a) An easement across, in, under, over and through the Common Areas for purposes of the construction, installation, repair, maintenance and use of all utility and drainage facilities serving any portion of the Property;
- (b) An easement in favor of Declarant for the exclusive use of such portions of the Common Areas as may be reasonably desirable, convenient or incidental to the construction and installation of improvements on, and the sale of, any Lots, including, but not limited to, sales and business offices, storage areas, construction yards and signs. Such easements shall be exercisable by any and all persons who the Declarant shall authorize to exercise the same, including, without limitation, real estate sales agents and brokers and Builders, and their subcontractors, of residences upon the

Lots, irrespective of whether such persons are affiliated with the Declarant. Such easements shall exist notwithstanding any provision of this Declaration which might be construed to the contrary, but shall terminate thirty days after the date that all of the Lots are Improved Lots. Such easements shall and do exist without affecting the obligation of the Owner of any Lot to pay assessments or charges coming due during such period of time as portions of the Common Areas shall be used by authorized persons pursuant to the exercise of the easements herein stated.

(c) Notwithstanding any provision contained in this Declaration, the Bylaws, the Articles of Incorporation, use restrictions, rules and regulations, or any amendments thereto, until Declarant's right unilaterally to subject property to this Declaration as provided herein terminates, it shall be expressly permissible for Declarant to maintain and carry on, upon such portion of the Property as Declarant may deem necessary, such facilities and activities as may reasonably be required by the Declarant, including but without limitation, the right of access, ingress and egress for vehicular and pedestrian traffic over, under, on or in the Property; the right to tie into any portion of the Property with driveways, parking, areas and walkways; the right to tie into and/or maintain and repair any device (without a tap-on or any other fee for doing so), replace, relocate, maintain, and repair any device which provides utility or similar service including, without limitation, electrical, telephone, natural gas, water, sewer and drainage lines and facilities constructed or installed in, on, under, or over the Property; the right to carry on sales and promotional activities on the Property; and the right to construct and operate business offices, signs, construction trailers, and model residences.

Section 4. Condemnation. In the event that any part of the Common Areas shall be either: (a) taken by any authority having the power of condemnation or eminent domain, or (b) conveyed in lieu of and under threat of condemnation by the Board acting on the written direction of at least 80% of the Class A votes (and, if during the Development Period, the written consent of Declarant), then the Association shall restore or replace the improvements on the remaining land included in the Common Areas to the extent available unless, within 60 days after such taking, at least 67% of the Class A votes (and Declarant, if during the Development Period) otherwise agree. The provisions of Section 5 below regarding funds for the repair of damage or destruction shall apply. If the taking or conveyance does not involve any improvements on the Common Areas, or if a decision is made not to repair or restore, or if net funds remain after any such restoration or replacement is complete, then such award or net funds may be used by the Association for such purposes as the Board shall determine.

Section 5. Damage or Destruction. In the event that any improvements located on any Common Areas shall be damaged or destroyed on account of the occurrence of any casualty, the Board of Directors shall proceed with the filing and settlement of all claims arising under any policy of insurance maintained by the Association with respect to such improvements and shall obtain reliable and detailed estimates of the cost of repair or reconstruction of the damaged or destroyed improvements.

Any such damage or destruction shall be repaired or reconstructed unless it shall be decided, within ninety (90) days after the occurrence of casualty, by at least 67% of the Class A votes (and by Declarant, if during the Development Period), not to so repair or reconstruct such damage. In the event that it shall be so decided not to repair or reconstruct some damage or destruction, the proceeds of any insurance as may become payable to the Association as a result of such damage or destruction shall be retained by and for the benefit of the Association and placed in a capital improvements account. This is a covenant for the benefit of Mortgagees and may be enforced by the Mortgagee of any affected Lot. If the insurance proceeds are insufficient to cover the costs of repair or reconstruction, the Board may, without a vote of the Class A Members, levy special assessments to cover the shortfall.

Section 6. Actions Requiring Owner Approval. Any conveyance or mortgaging of the Common Areas will require the consent of at least 80% of the Class A votes held by Members other the Declarant and, if during the Development Period, the consent of Declarant. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this section, however, the Association, acting through the Board, may grant easements over the Common Areas for installation and maintenance of utilities and drainage facilities and for other purposes not inconsistent with the intended use of the Common Areas, without the approval of the Membership.

BK 6562 PG 1174

Section 7. No Partition. The Common Areas shall remain undivided and no Owner shall bring any action for partition or division of the whole or any part thereof without the written consent of all Owners of all portions of the Property and without the written consent of all holders of all mortgages encumbering any portion of the Property.

Section 8. Insurance. The Association shall obtain the insurance coverage necessary to satisfy the requirements of the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, the Federal National Mortgage Association, the VA, and HUD, if and to the extent applicable to the Property. The Board of Directors shall obtain casualty insurance for all insurable improvements located on the Common Areas, which the Association is obligated to maintain. This insurance shall provide, at a minimum, fire and extended coverage and shall be in an amount sufficient to cover the full replacement cost of any repair or reconstruction in the event of damage or destruction from any such hazard. The Board of Directors shall obtain a public liability policy with a combined single limit of at least One Million Dollars applicable to the Common Areas covering the Association and its Members for all damage or injury caused by the negligence of the Association or any of its Members or agents, and, if reasonably available, directors' and officers' liability insurance. Policies may contain a reasonable deductible as determined by the Board of Directors. In addition, the Board of Directors shall obtain worker's compensation insurance, if and to the extent necessary to satisfy the requirements of applicable laws, and a fidelity bond or bonds on all persons handling or responsible for the Association's funds, if reasonably available. If obtained, the amount of fidelity coverage shall at least equal three months' total assessments plus reserves on hand. Fidelity coverage shall contain a waiver of all defenses based upon the exclusion of persons serving without compensation. All such insurance coverage shall be written in the name of the Association.

Section 9. Taxes and Governmental Assessments. The Association shall pay when due, and in any case before the accrual of penalties thereon, all taxes, assessments, license fees, permit fees and other charges imposed by any governmental authority in connection with the Association's ownership or operation of the Common Elements and assessments for public and private improvements made to or for the benefit of the Common Elements. Provided, however, that the Association may institute an appropriate legal proceeding for the purpose of contesting or objecting to the amount or the validity of any such tax, assessment, fee, or charge by appropriate legal proceedings. Upon default by the Owners' Association in the payment to the jurisdiction entitled thereto of any assessments for public improvements or ad valorem taxes levied against the common elements, which default shall continue for a period of six (6) months, each owner of a lot in the development shall become personally obligated to pay to the jurisdiction a portion of the taxes or assessments in an amount determined by dividing the total taxes and/or assessments due to the jurisdiction by the total number of lots in the development. If the sum is not paid by the owner within thirty (30) days following receipt of notice of the amount due, the sum shall become a continuing lien on the property of the owner, his heirs, devisees, personal representatives, and assigns. The taxing or assessing jurisdiction may either bring an action at law against the owner personally obligated to pay the same, or may elect to foreclose the lien against the property of the owner.

Section 10. Watershed Protection. Amendments to Declarations, Bylaws or Articles of Incorporation relating to the maintenance and ownership of the permanent wet detention pond shall not be permitted without review and approval by the governmental office having jurisdiction for watershed protection. The association is responsible for maintaining the completed permanent wet detention pond as directed by the governmental office having jurisdiction for watershed protection. If the association should be dissolved or cease to exist, then in that event all the owners of record at the time of required maintenance shall be jointly and severally liable for any and all costs attendant thereto.

ARTICLE IV. THE ASSOCIATION

Section 1. The Association. Prior to the date this Declaration has been filed for record with the Register of Deeds, Declarant has caused the Association to be formed, and the Association does now exist, under its Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws.

The Association is and shall be responsible for the maintenance of the Area of Common Responsibility, enforcement of the covenants and restrictions set forth in this Declaration, and the performance of such other duties and

BK 6562 PG 1175

services as are required of the Association hereunder or as the Board of Directors shall deem to be in the best interests of the members of the Association.

- Section 2. Membership. Every Owner is and shall be a member of the Association. In no event shall such membership be severed from the Ownership of such Lot.
- Section 3. Classes of Membership; Voting Rights. The Association shall have two classes of voting membership: Class A and Class B.
- (a) <u>Class A</u>. The Class A members shall be all those Persons holding an interest required for membership in the Association, as specified in of this Article, except for those Persons who are Class B members. Until such time as the Class A members shall be entitled to full voting privileges, as hereinafter specified, the Class A membership shall be a non-voting membership except as to such matters and in such events as are hereinafter specified.

The Class A members shall be entitled to full voting privileges on the earlier of the following dates to occur: (i) the date which the Declarant may so designate by notice in a writing delivered to the Association, or (ii) the termination of the Development Period. Until the earliest of these dates occurs, the Class A members shall be entitled to vote only on matters for which it is herein specifically provided, or for which it is provided by law, that approval of each and every class of membership of the Association is required. When entitled to vote, Class A members shall be entitled to cast one (1) vote for each Lot in which they hold an interest required for membership.

(b) Class B. Declarant shall be the only Class B member. Class B membership shall be a full voting membership and, during its existence, the Class B members shall be entitled to vote on all matters and in all events. At such time as the Class A members shall be entitled to full voting privileges, as provided in paragraph (a) hereof, the Class B membership shall automatically terminate and cease to exist, and the Class B member shall be and become a Class A member insofar as it may then hold any interest required for membership.

From and after the date at which the Class B membership automatically terminates and ceases to exist, such membership shall not be renewed or reinstated.

- Section 4. Suspension of Membership Rights. The membership rights of any member of the Association, including the right to vote, may be suspended by the Board of Directors pursuant to the authority granted in the Bylaws. Any such suspension shall not affect such member's obligation to pay assessments coming due during the period of such suspension and shall not affect the permanent charge and lien on the member's Lot in favor of the Association.
- Section 5. Meetings of the Membership. All matters concerning the meetings of members of the Association, including the time at which and the manner in which notice of any said meeting shall be given to members, the quorum required for the transaction of business at any meeting, and the vote required on any matter, shall be as specified in this Declaration, or in the Articles of Incorporation or the Bylaws, or by law.
- Section 6. Association Acts Through Its Board of Directors. Whenever approval of, or action or inaction by, the Association is referred to or called for in this Declaration, such action, inaction or approval shall be by the Board of Directors of the Association, unless it is specifically stated in this Declaration, the Articles of Incorporation or the Bylaws with respect to such action, inaction or approval that the members of the Association must vote. No member of the Board of Directors of the Association or any officer of the Association (including, without limitation, any such individual who shall have been elected by a vote of the Class B member) shall be personally liable to any owner of any Lot for any mistake of judgment or for any other act or omission of any nature whatsoever, except for any acts or omissions found by a court of competent jurisdiction to constitute gross negligence or fraud.
- Section 7. Professional Management. The Association may, but shall not be obligated to, obtain and pay for the services of any person or other entity to manage the affairs of the Association, or any part thereof, as the Board of Directors deems to be in the best interests of the Association.

ARTICLE V. ASSESSMENTS

Section 1. Creation of Lien and Personal Obligation. Each Owner, by acceptance of a deed or other conveyance for a Lot, covenants and agrees to pay to the Association all assessments and charges which are levied by the Association against the Lot(s) owned by such person in accordance with the terms and provisions of this Declaration.

All sums lawfully assessed by the Association against any Lot and the owner thereof, together with interest thereon and the costs of collection thereof, shall, from the time the sums become due and payable, be the personal obligation of the Owner of such Lot and constitute a continuing lien in favor of the Association on such Lot prior and superior to all other liens whatsoever except: (1) Liens for ad valorem taxes on the Lot; (2) The lien of any first priority mortgage covering the Lot and the lien of any mortgage recorded prior to the recording of this Declaration; and (3) The Lien of any secondary purchase money mortgage covering the Lot, provided that neither the grantee nor any successor grantee on the mortgage is the seller of the Lot. The covenant to pay assessments herein stated is and shall be a covenant running with land.

Section 2. Purposes of Assessments. The assessments levied by the Association pursuant to this Article shall be used to pay the costs and expenses which the Association shall incur in connection with the performance of its duties and responsibilities pursuant to the Act, this Declaration, the Articles of Incorporation and the Bylaws (such costs and expenses being herein referred to as the "Annual Expenses"). Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Annual Expenses shall include the costs of: payment of all costs and expenses incurred by the Association in connection with the maintenance of the Area of Common Responsibility and the Association's other operations; payment of the premiums for all fidelity bonds which shall be obtained by the Association; the payment of the fees of such management firms as the Board of Directors shall employ; payment of fees for the provision of such professional services as the Board of Directors shall determine to be required by the Association, including but not limited to legal, accounting and architectural services; and such other purposes as the Board of Directors shall deem necessary or desirable to promote the health, safety and welfare of the Association and its members.

Section 3. Determination of Annual Assessment and Shares Thereof. Prior to the commencement of each fiscal year of the Master Association (said fiscal year being specified in the Bylaws) or at any time it deems best, the Board of Directors shall estimate the total amount of the Annual Expenses which are anticipated to be incurred by the Master Association during such fiscal year and shall determine the amount which will be deposited during such fiscal year into reserve funds maintained by the Master Association. The Board of Directors shall thereupon adopt a budget for the Master Association's expenditures and reserves based upon such estimate and providing for the total annual assessment to be levied against the Members of the Master Association for such fiscal year (the total assessment which shall be so determined and levied for any fiscal year is herein referred to as the "Annual Assessment").

Within 30 days after adoption of any proposed budget, the Board of Directors shall provide to all the Owners a copy of the budget or a summary of the budget and a notice of the meeting to consider ratification of the budget, including a statement that the budget may be ratified without a quorum. The Board of Directors shall set a date for a meeting of the Owners to consider ratification of the budget, such meeting to be held not less than 10 nor more than 60 days after mailing of the copy or summary of the budget and notice. There shall be no requirement that a quorum be present at the meeting. The budget is ratified unless at that meeting 67% of all the Owners in the Association rejects the budget. In the event the proposed budget is rejected, the periodic budget last ratified by the Owners shall be continued until such time as the Owners ratify a subsequent budget proposed by the Board.

The assessments provided for herein shall commence as to a Unit on the date that Declarant transfers the Unit. Each Owner shall pay a portion of the annual budget that will be calculated by multiplying the total annual budget by a fraction, the denominator will be the number of Units and the numerator will be the number of Units that Owner owns. The Board of Directors shall send a copy of the budget so adopted as provided above, together with a written notice of the amount of the Annual Assessment so determined for such fiscal year and the amount of such Annual Assessment which shall be levied against each Unit, to the Owner of every Unit, prior to the commencement of the fiscal year during

which such Annual Assessment is to be paid. The amount of such Annual Assessment which shall be levied against each Unit shall be due and payable to the Master Association in a single installment or in such multiple installments as the Board of Directors shall determine and shall be paid to the Master Association when due without further notice.

Section 4. Special Assessments. If for any reason, including non-payment of any assessments to the Association by the persons liable therefore, the budget adopted by the Board of Directors for any fiscal year shall prove to be inadequate to defray the Annual Expenses for such fiscal year, or if the Board of Directors shall determine that it is in the best interests of the Association to levy a special assessment to pay the costs of any capital improvements or capital repairs, the Board of Directors shall have the authority to levy a special assessment against the Lots and the Owners thereof to raise such needed funds. Any special assessment levied by the Board of Directors pursuant to the provisions of this section shall be payable at such times and such installments as the Board of Directors shall determine. Each Lot shall be liable for the payment of an equal share of every special assessment which shall be levied by the Association pursuant to the provisions of this section.

Section 5. Specific Assessments. The Board may levy specific assessments against individual Owners (i) for the purpose of paying for the costs of any construction, reconstruction, repair or replacement of any damaged component of any monument, landscaping, or other thing maintained by the Association, which is occasioned by the acts of individual Owners(s) and not the result of ordinary wear and tear or (ii) for the payment of fines, penalties or other charges imposed against an individual Owner relative to such Owner's failure to comply with the terms and provisions of this Declaration, the Bylaws, or any rules or regulations promulgated hereunder. Failure of the Board to exercise its authority under this section shall not be grounds for any action against the Association or the Board of Directors and shall not constitute a waiver of the Board's right to exercise its authority under this section in the future with respect to any expenses.

The Board may also specifically assess Owners for the following Association expenses: (a) expenses of the Association which benefit less than all of the Lots may be specifically assessed equitably among all of the Lots which are benefited according to the benefit received; and (b) expenses of the Association which benefit all Lots, but which do not provide an equal benefit to all Lots, may be assessed equitably among all Lots according to the benefit received.

Upon the establishment of a specific assessment under this section, the Board shall send written notice of the amount and due date of such specific assessment to the affected Owner(s) at least thirty (30) days prior to the date such specific assessment is due.

Section 6. Special Assessment for Working Capital Reserve. Upon the first transfer of title to an Improved Lot and upon each resale of the Lot thereafter, there shall be levied against such Improved Lot and paid to the Association a special assessment as set from time to time by the Declarant or Board of Directors of the Association. Such amount shall not exceed the amount of the Annual Assessment which shall have been levied against Improved Lots for the calendar year in which such transfer of title shall take place. The Association shall use all special assessment payments which shall be so received by it pursuant to this section to establish a working capital reserve fund for use in connection with capital repairs and capital improvements. Declarant or Board shall endeavor to collect such special assessment at the closing of the purchase of the Improved Lot; however, the failure to collect such special assessment at that time shall not excuse the obligation to make such payment.

Section 7. Effect of Non-Payment of Assessments; Remedies of the Association.

(a) In the event that any member of the Association shall fail to pay, within ten (10) days after the date the same is due and payable, any annual or special assessment, or any installment of any annual or special assessment which is payable by him to the Association, the entire amount of such assessment, including the portion thereof which would otherwise be payable in installments, may be declared by the Board of Directors to be immediately due and payable in full to the Association. All such amounts so declared by the Board of Directors to be due and payable in full to the Association shall be secured by the lien of the Association on every Lot owned by the delinquent member, which lien shall bind such Lot or Lots in the hands of the then Owner, and his heirs, devisees, successors and assigns. In addition to the lien rights, the personal obligation of the then Owner to pay such assessments shall remain his personal obligation and

shall also pass to his successors in title. Such Owner shall nevertheless remain as fully obligated as before to pay to the Association any and all amounts which said Owner was obligated to pay immediately preceding the transfer; and such Owner and such successors in title shall be jointly and severally liable with respect thereto, notwithstanding any agreement between such Owner and successors in title creating any indemnification of the Owner or any relationship of principal and surety as between themselves.

(b) All amounts which the Board of Directors shall declare to be due and payable pursuant to this section shall bear interest from the date of delinquency at the lower of the rate of eighteen (18%) percent per annum or the highest rate permitted by law, and the Association may bring legal action against the member of the Association personally obligated to pay the same, or foreclose its lien upon the Lot or Lots of such member, in either of which events such member shall also be liable to the Association for all costs and attorneys' fees which the Association shall incur in connection with the collection of such delinquent amounts.

Section 8. Budget Deficits during Declarant Control Period. Declarant may advance funds to the Association sufficient to satisfy the deficit, if any, in any fiscal year between the actual operating expenses of the Association (exclusive of any allocation for capital reserves) and the annual and special assessments for such fiscal year. Such advances shall be evidenced by promissory notes from the Association in favor of the Declarant and shall be paid back to Declarant if and to the extent that sufficient funds are generated by assessments in future years until such time as Declarant no longer has the authority to appoint the directors and officers of the Association. As an alternative to the loan described above, the Declarant may require the Association to levy a special assessment in accordance with Section 4 above, in an amount necessary to cover any deficit.

Section 9. Failure to Assess. The failure of the Board to fix the assessment amounts or to deliver to each Owner the assessment notice shall not be deemed a waiver, modification or release of any Owner of the obligation to pay assessments. In such event, each Owner shall continue to pay assessments on the same basis as for the last year for which an assessment was made until a new assessment is made, at which time any shortfalls in collections may be assessed retroactively by the Association.

ARTICLE VI. ARCHITECTURAL CONTROL

Section 1. Architectural Restrictions on Buildings, Structures and Fences.

- (a) No building shall be constructed on any Lot unless such building meets all square footage and other requirements as may be set forth on the Plat.
- (b) No structure other than a fence shall be constructed, placed or installed upon any Lot in a location which encroaches beyond any front, side, or rear building setback line which is depicted on the Plat.
- (c) No fence shall be constructed or erected upon any Lot in any location without the prior written approval of the ACC. As set forth more fully in Section 3 below, the ACC reserves the right to approve the height, style, materials, color, texture and location of any fence and nothing contained herein shall imply any obligation on the part of the ACC to approve any fence on any Lot. The ACC may, but is not required to, promulgate regulations and standards regarding fencing, which standards may change at any time and from time to time as materials and styles change.
- Section 2. No Combination of Lots. Contiguous Lots may not be combined together without prior written consent of the ACC. In the event that the ACC does approve such a combination, such combination shall thereafter be deemed to be a single Lot for all purposes of this Declaration, except that notwithstanding the foregoing, the amount of assessments for which such single Lot shall be thereafter liable shall be equal to the total assessments for which all of the Lots which were so combined would have been liable had such combination not taken place.

- Section 3. Architectural Control. (a) No exterior construction, alteration or addition of any nature whatsoever (including but not limited to a building, fence, wall, garage, patio, carport, playhouse, swimming pool or other structure, staking, clearing, excavation, grading, filling, change in color or type of any existing improvement, planting or removal of landscaping materials, exterior lighting, placement or installation of statuary, flags, fountains and similar items, improvements or modifications to the roof, material, color, paint stain or varnish, or the interior porches, patios or similar portions of a structure which are visible from outside the Lot), shall be commenced, placed or maintained upon any Lot until complete and final plans and specifications setting forth the information hereinafter described shall have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the ACC as to the harmony of the exterior design and general quality with the existing standards of the improvements located on the other Lots, and as to location in relation to surrounding structures and topography. In the event the ACC fails to approve or disapprove such design and location within thirty (30) days after said plan and specifications have been submitted to it, approval will not be required, and this section will be deemed to have been fully complied with.
- (b) The plans and specifications, which must be submitted to the ACC prior to the commencement of any such work upon any Lot, as hereinabove provided, shall contain at least the nature, kind, shape, height, materials, color, texture and location of such structure, alteration or landscaping and such other information as the ACC may reasonably request in order to render a decision.
- (c) The ACC shall, upon demand, furnish to any member of the Association a certificate in writing signed by a member of the ACC, stating that any exterior addition to, change in, or alteration of any structure or landscaping owned by such member on a Lot is in compliance with the provisions of this section, and such certificate shall be conclusive as to whether the same is in such compliance.
- (d) In the event that any construction or alteration or landscaping work is undertaken or performed upon any Lot without application having been first made and approval obtained as provided in paragraph (a) of this section, said work shall be deemed to be in violation of this covenant, and the person upon whose Lot said work was undertaken or performed may be required to restore to its original condition, at his sole expense, the property upon which said work was undertaken or performed. Upon the failure or refusal of any person to perform the restoration required herein, the ACC, or their authorized agents or employees, may, after fourteen (14) days' notice to such person, enter upon the property upon which such unauthorized work has been performed, and make such restoration as the ACC, in the exercise of its discretion, may deem necessary or advisable. The person upon whose Lot such restoration work shall have been so performed shall be personally liable to the Association for all direct and indirect costs which the Association shall incur in the performance of such restoration work, including without limitation attorneys fees, and the liability for such cost shall be secured by all the liens, and shall be subject to the same means of collection, as the assessments provided for in this Declaration. Such costs shall be paid to the Association by the person liable for the same at the same time as the next due Annual Assessment payment, or at such earlier time, and in such installments, as the Board of Directors shall determine.
- Section 4. Declarant Exemption. Notwithstanding anything stated to the contrary herein, nothing contained in this Article shall be construed as prohibiting any construction, alteration, addition or removal by the Declarant upon any Lot while such Lot is owned by the Declarant. Any construction, alteration, addition or removal performed by the Declarant upon any Lot while such Lot is owned by the Declarant shall be exempt from the provisions of this Article.
- Section 5. Architectural Control Committee. Responsibility for the review of all applications under this Article shall be vested in the Architectural Control Committee ("ACC"), the members of which need not be Members of the Association or representatives of Members, and may, but need not, include architects, landscape architects, engineers or similar professionals, whose compensation, if any, shall be established from time to time by the Association. The ACC may establish procedures for receiving and processing applications for approvals, rules regarding the contents of applications for approvals, and may charge reasonable fees for review of applications hereunder and may require such fees to be paid in full prior to review of any application. Such fees may include the reasonable costs incurred by the ACC in having any application reviewed by architects, engineers or other professionals.

The ACC shall have exclusive jurisdiction over all construction, alterations or additions on any portion of the Property. Until one hundred (100%) percent of the Lots are Improved Lots, the Declarant retains the right to appoint all members of the ACC, who shall serve at the Declarant's discretion. There shall be no surrender of this right prior to that time except in a written instrument in recordable form executed by Declarant. Upon the expiration or surrender of such right, the Board shall appoint the members of the ACC, who shall thereafter serve and may be removed in the Board's discretion.

ARTICLE VII. RESTRICTIONS

In order to provide for the maximum enjoyment of the Lots by all of the residents thereof and to provide protection for the value of the same, the use of the Lots shall be restricted to, and shall be only in accordance with, the following provisions:

Section 1. Residential Use. All of the Lots shall be restricted exclusively to single-family residential use. The term "single-family" shall include one or more related or unrelated adults, as well as the children of any such adults. No Lot shall at any time be used for any commercial, business or professional purpose. No Owner may rent an Improved Lot without the prior written consent of the Board of Directors and in no event may greater than 20% of the Improved Lots be rented. Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, nothing set forth in this section shall prohibit: (a) the Declarant from conducting such sales, leasing and promotional activities on any Improved Lot as said Declarant shall determine; or (b) the owner of any Improved Lot from using a portion of a building located on such Improved Lot as an office, provided that such use does not create regular customer, client or employee traffic to and from such Improved Lot and no sign, logo, symbol or nameplate identifying such business is displayed anywhere on such Improved Lot.

Section 2. Prohibited Activities. No noxious, offensive, unsightly or unkempt activity shall be conducted on any Lot. Each owner of any Lot, his family, tenants, guests and invitees, shall refrain from any act or use of his property which could reasonably cause embarrassment, discomfort, annoyance or nuisance to any other resident or residents of any other Lot. Storage or placement of furniture, fixtures, appliances, machinery, bicycles, towels, equipment or other goods or chattels not in active use on any Lot which is visible from outside the Lot is prohibited except as specifically permitted in this Declaration.

Section 3. Nuisances. No nuisance shall be permitted to exist upon any Lot. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, no exterior speakers, horns, whistles, bells, or other sound devices, except security devices used exclusively for security purposes, shall be located, used or placed on any Lot, or any portion thereof.

Section 4. Animals. No Lot shall be used for the keeping or breeding of livestock animals or poultry of any kind. No Owner or Occupant may keep, breed or maintain any animal for any commercial purpose. No Owner may keep any pets other than a reasonable number of generally recognized household pets, as determined by the Board, on any portion of the Property. Animals must be kept on a leash and be under the physical control of a responsible person at all times while outdoors. Any feces left upon the Common Areas by an animal must be removed by the owner of the animal or the person responsible for the animal.

No animal determined to be dangerous, in the Board's sole and absolute discretion, may be brought onto or kept on the Property at any time. The Board may remove without notice any animal that presents an immediate danger to the health, safety or property of any resident.

Each Owner who keeps an animal on the Property agrees to indemnify and hold the Association and its directors, officers and agents harmless from any loss, claim or liability of any kind whatsoever arising by reason of such animal.

Section 5. Antennas; Aerials; Satellite Dishes. The Owner of each Lot shall have the right to install, maintain and use on such Lot one antenna, aerial, or satellite dish to receive video programming that is (i) not larger than one

meter in diameter, (ii) blends with the color of the roof or wall where it is installed, and (iii) is installed so as not to be visible from the front of the Lot or street. No other exterior antennas, aerials, satellite dishes or other reception device shall be constructed, installed, placed or affixed unless approved in accordance with the Architectural Control provisions contained in the previous Article. Installation of an antenna deviating from the above provision shall be approved pursuant to the Architectural Control provisions if reasonably necessary to permit the reception of an acceptable quality signal. External antennae for HAM radios, two way radios and other hobby or professional radio communication transmission equipment are prohibited.

Declarant or the Association shall have the right, without obligation, to erect an aerial, satellite dish, or other apparatus of any size for a master antenna, cable, or other communication system for the benefit of all or a portion of the Property.

Section 6. Clotheslines. No exterior clothesline of any type shall be permitted on any portion of any Lot.

Section 7. Signs. No sign of any kind or character shall be erected on any portion of any Lot, or displayed to the public on any portion of any Lot, without the prior written consent of the Board of Directors, except for customary name and address signs, one customary "for sale" sign advertising a Lot for sale and any sign required by legal proceedings. The restriction herein stated shall include the prohibition of placement of any sign within a building located on any Lot in a location from which the same shall be visible from the outside and the placement of any sign in or upon any motor vehicle.

Section 8. Trash Containers and Collection. No garbage or trash shall be placed or kept on the Property except in covered containers of a type, size and style which are approved by the Board of Directors or as required by the applicable governing jurisdiction, and subject to rules promulgated by the Association. Garbage containers must be stored only in a screened location that is constructed of the same material as the siding of the house and that has been approved by the ACC or in the garage. Owners may place garbage containers at the curb or other location specified by the City of High Point for collection no more than twenty four (24) hours before the time scheduled for collection and must return garbage containers to the screened area or garage within forty eight (48) hours of collection. No person shall burn rubbish, garbage or any other form of solid waste on any Lot or within the right of way of any street in the Development.

Section 9. Vehicles and Parking. The term "vehicles" as used in this section shall include without limitation automobiles, trucks, boats, trailers, motorcycles, campers, vans, and recreational vehicles. No vehicle may be left upon any portion of the Property except upon a hard surfaced parking area or within a garage. No person shall park any commercial vehicles (including but not limited to any type of vehicle with advertising or lettering), recreational vehicles, mobile homes, trailers, campers, boats or other water craft, or other oversized vehicles, stored vehicles or unlicensed or inoperable vehicles within the Property, with the exception of emergency vehicle repairs or commercials vehicles which are temporarily parked for the purpose of servicing a Lot or the Property.

Except as may be otherwise permitted by the Association, in its sole and complete discretion, all Owners and occupant vehicles must be kept and stored when not in use within the Lot's garage space or parking areas and garage doors must remain closed at all times except for entry and exit by vehicles and except for periods related to homeowner maintenance activities.

The Association may promulgate rules regarding parking privileges on the Common Areas.

Section 10. Window Air-Conditioners. No air-conditioner shall be installed in any window of any building located on any Lot, nor shall any air-conditioner be installed on any building located on any Lot so that the same protrudes through any exterior wall of such building.

Section 11. Window Treatments. Except as may be otherwise approved in accordance with the Architectural Control provisions contained in the previous Article, all window treatments visible from the outside of a structure on a

Lot shall be white or off-white in color. No bed sheets, towels, newspaper, tin foil, or similar materials may be used as window treatments.

Section 12. Lighting. Exterior lighting visible from the street shall not be permitted except for: (1) approved lighting as originally installed on a Lot; (2) one (1) approved decorative post light; (3) pathway lighting; (4) street lights in conformity with an established street lighting program for the Property; (5) seasonal decorative lights; or (6) front house illumination of model homes.

Section 13. Mailboxes. A mailbox conforming to requirements approved by the ACC shall be installed on each Lot. No changes or additions shall be made to the original mailbox or its design, materials or location without obtaining prior written approval from the ACC.

Section 14. Play Equipment. Recreational and playground equipment shall not be placed on the front or side yard of any Lot. Recreational and playground equipment may be placed in the rear of Lot, provided that the equipment is placed 15 feet or more from the rear of the Lot and 10 feet or more from either side of the Lot, and provided further that Recreational and playground equipment may be placed on a Lot which is adjacent to the Common Areas only with the prior written consent of the ACC. Materials, colors and other specifications shall be as provided in the Design Guidelines and otherwise approved by the ACC.

Section 15. Stoops, Driveways, Decks, Patio Areas and Storage Sheds. Grills, patio furniture and potted plants may be permitted on Patio Areas and Decks, subject to local ordinances and any rules promulgated by the Association with respect thereto; provided such grills, patio furniture or potted plants are not visible outside the Lot, and any grills, patio furniture or potted plants which are visible outside the Lot must receive the prior approval of the ACC. In addition, any items placed on Stoops and Driveways must comply with any rules promulgated by the Association with respect thereto. Detached storage buildings, sheds or animal pens are prohibited.

Section 16. Swimming Pools. No swimming pool shall be constructed, erected or maintained without prior approval of the ACC. In no event shall above ground swimming pools or spas be allowed on any Lot.

Section 17. Trees. No healthy living trees having a diameter of six (6) inches or more measured from a point two (2) feet above the ground, and no flowering tree, shrub, evergreen, or natural ground cover, shall be removed after the Lot is an Improved Lot, unless such removal is approved by the ACC.

Section 18. No Subdivision of Lots. No Lot may be further subdivided into any smaller Lot.

Section 19. Interpretation. In all cases, the covenants and restrictions herein contained shall be construed and interpreted in a manner which, in the opinion of Board of Directors, will best effect the intent of the general plan of development and maintenance herein set forth. Subject to the terms of this Article and the Board's duty to exercise business judgment and reasonableness, the Board may modify, cancel, limit, create exceptions to, or expand the restrictions contained herein and may create, modify and enforce reasonable rules governing the use of the Property consistent with the law and with other provisions in this Declaration. The Board shall send notice to all Owners concerning any proposed action on restrictions or rules at least ten business days prior to the Board meeting at which such action is to be considered. For this purpose, notice may be sent to each Owner by U.S. mail, electronic telecommunication with confirmation of receipt, or publication in the community newsletter delivered or mailed to each Owner provided that such notice is clearly identified under a separate headline in the newsletter. Members shall have a reasonable opportunity to be heard at a Board meeting prior to such action being taken.

Notwithstanding the above however, the Board shall have no authority to create new restrictions. New restrictions may be adopted only by amendment to this Declaration.

Section 20. No Waiver of Future Approvals. Approval of proposals, plans and specifications, or drawings for any work done or proposed, or in connection with any other matter requiring approval, shall not be deemed to constitute a

waiver of the right to withhold approval as to any similar proposals, plans and specifications, drawings, or other matters subsequently or additionally submitted for approval.

ARTICLE VIII. MAINTENANCE

Section 1. Association's Maintenance Responsibility. The Association shall keep in good repair the Common Areas. If and to the extent the following facilities are not maintained by a governmental entity, the Association shall also maintain the Areas of Common Responsibility (whether or not constituting Common Areas), including: (a) all entry features to the Property; (b) all sidewalks; (c) any perimeter fencing required by the municipal authorities; (d) all landscaping within public right-of-way abutting the Property; (e) all storm water detention or drainage facilities serving the Property and (f) any recreational amenities that are determined by the Association to be part of its maintenance responsibilities.

In the event that the Association determines that any maintenance, repair, or replacement, which is the responsibility of the Association hereunder, is caused through the willful or negligent act of an Owner, or the occupant, family, guest, invitee or lessee of an Owner, then the Association may perform such maintenance, repair or replacement and all costs thereof not paid for by insurance shall be assessed against the Owner as a specific assessment.

Section 2. Owner's Maintenance Responsibility. All maintenance and repair of each Lot and all improvements thereon that are not addressed as being the responsibility of the Association in Section 1 above shall be the sole responsibility of the Owner thereof, who shall maintain such Lot and improvements in a manner consistent with this Declaration. Such maintenance obligation shall include, without limitation, the following: prompt removal of litter and waste; keeping improvements, roofs and exterior structures and lighting in good working order and repair; complying with all governmental health and police requirements; and repair of exterior damage to improvements. In the event that the Board determines that any Owner has failed or refused to discharge properly such Owner's obligations hereunder, the Board shall have the right, exercisable by it or through its agents or employees, and after giving to the Owner of such Lot at least fourteen (14) days notice and an opportunity to correct the unsatisfactory condition (except in the event of an emergency situation, in which case no notice and opportunity to correct shall be required), to enter upon such Lot and correct the unsatisfactory condition. The Owner of the Lot upon which such maintenance work is performed by the Association (or its agents or employees) shall be personally liable to the Association for all direct and indirect costs as may be incurred by the Association in connection with the performance of such maintenance work, and the liability for such costs shall be secured by all the liens, and shall be subject to the same means of collection, as are the other assessments and charges provided for in this Declaration. In addition, all such costs shall be paid to the Association by such Owner at the same time as the next due Annual Assessment payment, or at such other time, and in such installments, as the Board shall determine.

Section 3. Individual Insurance. Each Owner, by virtue of taking title to a Lot subject to this Declaration, acknowledges that the Association has no obligation to provide any insurance for any portion of individual Lots and each Owner covenants and agrees with all other Owners and with the Association that each Owner will carry at all times all-risk casualty insurance on the Lot, all structures constructed thereon, as well as a liability policy covering damage or injury occurring on a Lot. The casualty insurance shall cover loss or damage by fire and other hazards commonly insured under an all-risk policy, if reasonably available, and shall be in an amount sufficient to cover the full replacement cost of any repair or reconstruction in the event of damage or destruction from any such hazard. Upon request by the Association, the Owner shall furnish a copy of such insurance policy to the Association.

ARTICLE IX. MORTGAGEE PROVISIONS

Section 1. Notice of Action. An institutional holder, insurer, or guarantor of a first Mortgage, who provides a written request to the Association (such request to state the name and address of such holder, insurer, or guarantor and the Lot Number, therefore becoming an "eligible holder"), will be entitled to timely written notice of: (a) any condemnation

loss of any casualty loss which affects a material portion of the Development or which affects any Lot on which there is a first Mortgage held, insured, or guaranteed by such eligible holder; (b) any delinquency in the payment of assessments or charges owed by an Owner of a Lot subject to the Mortgage of such eligible holder where such delinquency has continued for a period of sixty (60) days; provided, however, notwithstanding this provision, any holder of a first Mortgage, upon request, is entitled to written notice from the Association of any default in the performance by the Owner of the encumbered Lot of any obligation under the Declaration or Bylaws of the Association which is not cured within sixty (60) days; any lapse, cancellation, or material modification of any insurance policy maintained by the Association.

Section 2. Audit. Upon written request of any institutional holder of a first Mortgage and upon payment of all necessary costs, such holder shall be entitled to receive a copy of audited financial statements of the Association within 90 days of the date of the request.

<u>Section 3</u>. <u>No Priority</u>. No provision of this Declaration or the Bylaws gives any Owner or other party priority over any rights of a Mortgagee of any Lot in the case of distribution to such Owner of insurance proceeds.

Section 4. <u>HUD/VA Approval</u>. As long as the Declarant has the right to appoint and remove the officers and/or directors of the Association and so long as the project is approved by HUD for insuring or the VA for guaranteeing any Mortgage in the Development, and if required by HUD or VA regulations, then the following actions shall require the prior approval of HUD and/or the VA as applicable: annexation of additional property and material amendment of the Declaration, Bylaws, or Articles of Incorporation.

Section 5. Failure of Mortgagee to Respond. Any Mortgagee who receives a written request from the Board to respond to or consent to any action shall be deemed to have approved such action if the Association does not receive a written response from the Mortgagee within thirty (30) days of the date of the Association's request, provided such request is delivered to the Mortgagee by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested.

ARTICLE X. AMENDMENT

Except as set forth below, the terms, provisions, covenants and restrictions of this Declaration may be amended only upon the affirmative vote or written consent, or any combination thereof, of 67% of the Lot Owners (other than Declarant) and approval of such amendment by the Declarant, so long as the Declarant owns any property for development and/or sale in the community. The approval of any such amendment by the members of the Association shall be given by each such member either casting a vote in favor of such amendment at a meeting of the members of the Association duly called for such purpose, or by such member signing a written approval of such amendment after the date on which such meeting was held.

This Declaration may also be amended unilaterally by Declarant if: (a) such amendment is necessary to bring any provision hereof into compliance with any applicable governmental statute, rules or regulation or judicial determination which shall be in conflict therewith, (b) such amendment is necessary to enable any reputable title insurance company to issue title insurance coverage with respect to the Lots, (c) such amendment is required by an institutional or governmental lender or purchaser of mortgage loans (such as the Federal National Mortgage Association or Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation) to enable such lender or purchaser to make or purchase mortgage loans on the Lots, (d) such amendment is necessary to enable any governmental agency or private insurance company, including but not limited to HUD and the VA, to insure or guarantee mortgage loans on the Lots, provided, however, that any such amendment shall not adversely affect the title to any Owner's Lot unless such Lot Owner shall consent thereto in writing, or (e) such amendment does not materially adversely affect the substantive rights of any Owners hereunder nor adversely affect title to any Lot without the consent of the affected Owner.

Any such amendment shall become effective upon the recording with the Register of Deeds of the instrument evidencing such change unless a later effective date is specified therein. The matters set forth in such instrument shall be presumed to be true and accurate and the amendment which is set forth in such instrument shall be effective, unless it

shall be determined by a court of competent jurisdiction that the matters certified to in such instrument are not true and accurate. Any lawsuit challenging any aspect of an amendment to this Declaration must be filed in the Superior Court in the county where the Property is located within one year of the date of recordation of such amendment with the Register of Deeds.

Every Owner, by taking record title to a Lot, and each holder of a mortgage upon any portion of any Lot, by acceptance of such mortgage, hereby agrees that the terms, provisions, covenants and restrictions of this Declaration may be amended as provided herein.

ARTICLE XI. MISCELLANEOUS

Section 1. Failure of Enforcement. In the event that the Association shall fail to enforce the compliance with any of the provisions of this Declaration by the Owner of any Lot, then the Owner of any other Lot shall have the right to file an action in the Superior Court of the county where the Property is located for an order from such Court requiring that the Association enforce such compliance; provided, however, in no event shall the Board of Directors, or any officer of the Association, or any of their agents, be personally liable to anyone on account of their failure to enforce any of the terms, provisions or restrictions set forth in this Declaration.

Section 2. No Waivers. In no event shall the failure by the Association to insist in any one or more cases upon the strict performance of any of the terms, covenants, conditions, provisions or agreements set forth in this Declaration be construed as a waiver or relinquishment of the future enforcement of any such term, covenant, condition, provision, or agreement. The acceptance of performance of anything required to be performed with knowledge of the breach of a term, covenant, condition, provision or agreement shall not be deemed a waiver of such breach, and no waiver by the Association of any term, covenant, condition, provision or agreement shall be deemed to have been made unless expressed in writing and signed by a duly authorized officer of the Association.

Section 3. Duration. This Declaration, and all of the terms, easements, provisions, liens, charges, restrictions and covenants set forth herein, shall run with the land and shall be binding on all parties and all persons claiming under them for a period of twenty (20) years from and after the date this Declaration is recorded, after which time such covenants and restrictions shall be automatically extended for successive periods of twenty (20) years until the recordation of an instrument of termination within two (2) years of the expiration of the initial twenty-year period or any extension thereof, such instrument having been executed by a minimum of fifty-one percent of the record Owners of the Lots.

Section 4. Notices. Any notice required or permitted to be sent to any member of the Association pursuant to any provision of this Declaration may be served by depositing such notice in the mails, postage prepaid, addressed to the member or Owner to whom it is intended, at the address which such member shall have furnished to the Secretary of the Association in accordance with the Bylaws, or, in the absence of any such address having been so furnished to the Secretary of the Association, at the address of the Lot owned by such member. The date of service shall be the date of mailing. The address of Declarant or the Association shall be the address of its respective registered agent on file with the Secretary of State of North Carolina. The date of service shall be the date shown on the return receipt. Rejection or other refusal to accept shall be deemed to be receipt of the notice sent.

Section 5. Severability. Whenever possible, each provision of this Declaration shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid, but if any provision of this Declaration or the application thereof to any person or to any property shall be prohibited or held invalid, such prohibition or invalidity shall not affect any other provision or the application of any provision which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application, and to this end the provisions of this Declaration are declared to be severable.

Section 6. <u>Judicial Proceedings</u>. Enforcement of these covenants and restrictions shall be by any proceeding at law or in equity against any Person or Persons violating or attempting to violate any covenant or restriction, either to

restrain violation or to recover damages, and against the Lots, to enforce any liens created by this Declaration. No judicial or administrative proceeding shall be commenced or prosecuted by the Association unless approved by at least seventy-five percent (75%) of the Lot Owners. This section shall not apply, however, to (a) actions brought by the Association to enforce the provisions of this Declaration (including the foreclosure of liens); (b) the collections of assessments; (c) proceeding involving challenges to ad valorem taxation; or (d) counterclaims brought by the Association in proceedings instituted against it. This section shall not be amended unless such amendment is approved by the percentage of votes, and pursuant to the same procedures, necessary to institute proceedings as provided above.

Section 7. Successors to Declarant. In no event shall any person or other entity succeeding to the interest of the Declarant by operation of law or through purchase of the Declarant's interest in all or any portion of the Property at foreclosure, sale under power or by deed in lieu of foreclosure, be liable for any act, omission or matter occurring, or arising from any act, omission or matter occurring, prior to the date such successor succeeded to the interest of the Declarant.

SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Declarant has caused this Declaration to be executed by its duly authorized officers on the day and year set forth below.

State of North Carolina
County of Mickin burg
I, DINIS A SWANSON, a Notary Public of MULLIAMY County, NOTH CAROLING certify that Shart Wright Or., (Name of officer and title) of Mendenhall Mil
Development, LLC a limited liability company, personally appeared before me this day and acknowledged the due
execution of the foregoing instrument on behalf of the company.
Witness my hand and official seal, this the 12 day of 4/11, 2004.
Notary Public: June & Summar (Official Seal)
My Commission Expires: 10-18-2010

BYLAWS OF MENDENHALL MILL HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC.

ARTICLE I: OFFICE

The Mendenhall Mill Homeowners Association, Inc. (the "Association") shall at all times maintain a registered office in the State of North Carolina and a registered agent at that address. The Association may also have such other offices as the Board of Directors shall determine.

ARTICLE II: <u>DEFINITIONS</u>

Unless the context requires otherwise, the terms defined in the Declaration of Covenants, Restrictions and Easements for Mendenhall Mill, recorded in the Guilford County, North Carolina Registry (the "Declaration", the Declaration being incorporated herein in its entirety) shall have the same meanings for purposes of these Bylaws as are ascribed to them in the Declaration.

ARTICLE III: MEMBERS

Section 3.1 <u>Membership</u>. The Association shall have two classes of membership, Class A and Class B, which classes of membership shall have the rights conferred upon them by the Declaration, the Articles of Incorporation of the Association and these Bylaws.

Persons who hold an interest merely as security for the performance of an obligation are not Members, and the giving of a security interest shall not terminate a Member's membership. In no event shall there be more than one (1) membership per Lot owned. In the event of multiple Owners of a Lot, rights of use and enjoyment shall be as provided in the Declaration and in the Bylaws, but in no event shall more than one (1) vote be cast nor office held for each Lot owned.

In the event a Member is a corporation, partnership, trust, or other legal entity not being a natural person or persons, then any natural person who is an officer, director, or other designated agent of such corporation, partner of such partnership, beneficiary or other designated agent of such trust, or manager of such other legal entity shall be eligible to represent such entity in the affairs of the Association. Such person's relationship with the Association shall terminate automatically upon the termination of such person's relationship with the entity which is the Member, which will create a vacancy in any elected or appointed position within the Association in which such person may have been serving, to be filled by the Board.

- Section 3.2 <u>Annual Meeting</u>. A meeting of the Members of the Association shall be held annually at such time and place on such date as the Directors shall determine from time to time.
- Section 3.3 <u>Special Meetings</u>. Special meetings of the Members may be called at any time by the President of the Association. Additionally, it shall be the duty of the President to call a special meeting of the Members upon being presented with a written request to do so signed (i) by a majority

of the members of the Board of Directors, or (ii) after the termination of the Class B membership, by the Members of the Association entitled to cast no less than twenty percent (20%) of the total vote of the Association.

Section 3.4 Notice of Meetings. It shall be the duty of the Secretary to give a notice to each Member of each meeting of the Members at least 21 days in advance of any annual or regularly scheduled meeting and at least seven days in advance of any other meeting. Each notice of a meeting shall state the purpose thereof, as well as the time and place where it is to be held, and shall be delivered personally or sent by United States mail, postage prepaid, to all Owners of record at such address or addresses as designated by such Owners or, if no other address has been so designated, at the address of their respective Lot.

Section 3.5 <u>Waiver of Notice</u>. Waiver of notice of a meeting of the Members shall be deemed the equivalent of proper notice. Any Member may, in writing, waive notice of any Association meeting, either before or after such meeting. Attendance at a meeting by a Member, whether in person or represented by proxy, shall be deemed a waiver by such Member of notice of the time, date, and place thereof unless such Member specifically objects to lack of proper notice at the time the meeting is called to order. Attendance at a special meeting shall also be deemed a waiver of notice of all business transacted at such meeting unless objection to lack of notice is raised before the business, of which proper notice was not given, is put to a vote.

Section 3.6 Quorum. A quorum is composed of those Members attending a meeting or voting on a matter in person or by proxy, provided that, unless 20 percent or more of the voting power is present in person or by proxy, the only matters that may be voted upon at an annual or regular meeting of Members are those matters that are described in the meeting notice.

Section 3.7 <u>Voting</u>. On all matters upon which the Members are entitled to vote, each Member shall be entitled to cast one (1) vote for each Lot in which he shall own of record a fee interest or an undivided fee interest. When more than one (1) Person owns a Lot, the vote for such Lot shall be exercised as they determine between themselves, but in no event shall more than one vote be cast with respect to any Lot. If only one co-owner attempts to cast the vote for a Member Lot, it shall be conclusively presumed that such co-owner is authorized on behalf of all co-owners to cast the vote for such Lot. In the event of disagreement among co-owners and two or more of them attempt to cast a vote, such Persons shall not be recognized and such votes shall not be counted.

No Member shall be eligible to vote, either in person or by proxy, or to be elected to the Board, if that Member is shown on the books or management accounts of the Association to be more than (30) days delinquent in any payment due the Association or if the Member has had its voting rights suspended for the infraction of any provision of the Declaration, these Bylaws, or any rule of the Association. If the voting rights of a Member have been suspended, that Member shall not be counted as an eligible vote for purposes of establishing a majority or a quorum or for purposes of amending these Bylaws or the Declaration.

- Section 3.8 Adjournments. Any meeting of the Members may be adjourned by the holders of a majority of the votes represented at the meeting to reconvene at a specific time and place. It shall not be necessary to give any notice of the reconvened meeting, if the time and place of the reconvened meeting are announced at the meeting which was adjourned. At any such reconvened meeting, any business may be transacted which could have been transacted at the meeting which was adjourned.
- Section 3.9 Proxy. Any Member entitled to vote may do so by written proxy duly executed by such Member setting forth the meeting at which the proxy is valid. Only Members and their spouses or co-habitants may hold proxies. To be valid, a proxy must be signed, dated, and filed with the Secretary prior to the opening of the meeting for which it is to be used. Proxies may be delivered to the Board by personal delivery, U.S. mail, or facsimile transmission to any Board member to any Board member. Proxies may be revoked only by written notice delivered to the Association, except that the presence in person by the proxy giver at a meeting for which the proxy is given shall automatically invalidate the proxy for that meeting. A proxy holder may not appoint a substitute proxy holder unless expressly authorized to do so in the proxy.
- Section 3.10 <u>Consents</u>. In the Board's discretion, any action that may be taken by the Association Members at any annual, regular, or special meeting may be taken without a meeting if the Board delivers a written consent form or written ballot to every Member entitled to vote on the matter.
- (a) <u>Ballot</u>. A written ballot shall set forth each proposed action and provide an opportunity to vote for or against each proposed action. Approval by written ballot shall be valid only when the number of votes cast by ballot equals or exceeds the quorum required to be present at a meeting authorizing the action, and the number of approvals equals or exceeds the number of votes that would be required to approve the matter at a meeting at which the total number of votes cast was the same as the number of votes cast by ballot.

All solicitations for votes by written ballot shall: (1) indicate the number of responses needed to meet the quorum requirements; (2) state the percentage of approvals necessary to approve each matter other than election of directors; and (3) specify the time by which a ballot must be received by the corporation in order to be counted. A written ballot may not be revoked. The Association shall maintain such ballots in its file for at least three (3) years.

(b) Written Consent. Approval by written consent shall be valid only when the number of written consents received equals or exceeds the requisite majority of the voting power for such action. Executed written consents shall be included in the minutes or filed with the Association's records. If an action of the Members is approved by written consent hereunder, the Board shall issue written notice of such approval to all Members who did not sign written consents. Membership approval shall be effective ten (10) days after written notice is issued; provided, however, if the consent is to an amendment to the Declaration which must be recorded, the effective date shall be no earlier than the date of recording of such amendment

Section 3.11 Order of Business. At all meetings of the Association, Roberts Rules of Order (latest edition) shall govern when not in conflict with the Declaration, these Bylaws or the Articles of Incorporation.

ARTICLE IV: DIRECTORS

Section 4.1 Number. The initial number of directors on the Board of Directors shall be one (1). From and after the election of the first Board of Directors to be elected by the Class A Members, the Board of Directors shall consist of five (5) directors who shall be Members or spouses or cohabitants of Members, provided, however, that no Member and his or her spouse or cohabitant or co-Owner may serve on the Board at the same time. The two (2) directors receiving the most votes shall be elected for a term of two (2) years and the remaining three (3) directors elected shall have a term of one (1) year. At the expiration of the term of office of each Board member, and at each annual meeting thereafter, a successor shall be elected to serve for a term of two (2) years. The Board members shall hold office until their respective successors shall have been elected by the Association.

Section 4.2 <u>Appointment and Election</u>. Until the termination of the Class B membership, as provided in the Declaration and the Articles of Incorporation of the Association, the Board of Directors shall be appointed by the Class B member.

From and after the termination of the Class B membership, as provided in the Declaration and the Articles of Incorporation of the Association, the members of the Board of Directors (except for the members of the first Board of Directors to be elected after the termination of the Class B membership) shall be elected at each annual meeting of the Members of the Association.

Each Member entitled to vote shall be entitled to cast one (1) vote for each Lot owned by such member for each directorship to be filled on the Board of Directors. Cumulative voting shall not be permitted. The candidates receiving the most votes shall be elected. Voting for election of Board member shall be by secret written ballot (unless dispensed with by unanimous consent at such meeting at which such voting is conducted).

Section 4.3 Removal of Members of the Board of Directors. During the Class B membership, the Declarant may remove any director at any time for any reason. After the termination of the Class B membership, at any valid regular or special Association meeting, any one or more Board members may be removed with or without cause by a majority of the Members and a successor may then and there be elected to fill the vacancy created. Moreover, any director who has had two (2) consecutive unexcused absences from regularly scheduled Board meetings or missed more than one-third of the meetings of the Board during their term, or who is more than sixty (60) days past due in the payment of any assessment may be removed by the vote of a majority of the other directors. Any director whose removal has been proposed shall be given at least ten (10) days notice of the calling of the meeting to consider his or her removal and the purpose thereof and shall be given an opportunity to be heard at the meeting.

- Section 4.4 <u>Vacancies</u>. Vacancies in the Board caused by any reason, except the removal of a director by vote of the membership, shall be filled by a vote of the majority of the remaining directors, even though less than a quorum, at any Board meeting. The successor selected shall hold office for the remainder of the term of the director being replaced.
- Section 4.5 <u>Compensation</u>. No fee or compensation shall be paid by the Association to directors for their services in said capacity unless such fee or compensation is approved by a majority of the votes of the Members cast at a duly convened meeting thereof, and in no event shall any director receive any compensation from the Association for serving as a director prior to the termination of the Class B membership. The directors shall, however, be entitled to reimbursement for reasonable expenses incurred by them in the performance of their duties upon Board approval of such expenses.
- Section 4.6 <u>Regular Meetings</u>. Until such time as the Class B membership shall terminate, the Board of Directors shall not be required to hold regular meetings and the Board of Directors shall meet as often as the President of the Association shall determine. Thereafter, the Board of Directors shall meet no less frequently than once every six months, and, in all events, within thirty (30) days after the election or appointment of new directors.
- Section 4.7 <u>Special Meetings</u>. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called at any time by the President, or by any two directors, on three (3) days notice to each director, which notice shall specify the time and place of the meeting. Notice of any such meeting may be waived by an instrument in writing executed before or after the meeting. Attendance in person at any meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice thereof.
- Section 4.8 <u>Waiver of Notice</u>. Any director at any time, in writing, may waive notice of any Board meeting, and such waiver shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice. Attendance by a director at any Board meeting shall also constitute a waiver of notice by him or her of the time and place of such meeting. If all directors are present at any Board meeting, no notice shall be required and any business may be transacted at such meeting.
- Section 4.9 <u>Conduct of Meetings</u>. The President shall preside over all Board meetings, and the Secretary shall keep a minute book recording therein all resolutions adopted by the Board and a record of all transactions and proceedings occurring at such meetings. The presence of directors entitled to cast one-half of the votes of the Board shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. One or more directors who participate in a meeting by means of telephone or electronic communication shall be deemed present and in attendance for all purposes at such meeting, provided all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other.
- Section 4.10 Open Meetings. All Board meetings may be open to all Members, but Members other than directors may not participate in any discussion or deliberation unless expressly authorized by the Board. Notwithstanding the above, the Board may adjourn a meeting and reconvene in executive session to discuss and vote upon personnel matters, litigation in which the Association is or may become involved, contracts being considered or negotiated, and orders of

business of a similar nature. The nature of any and all business to be considered in executive session shall first be announced in open session.

- Section 4.11 <u>Action Without a Meeting</u>. Any Board action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting may be taken without a meeting if a majority of the directors consent in writing to such action. The written consents must describe the action taken and be signed by no fewer than a majority of the directors. The written consents shall be filed with the minutes of the Board.
- Section 4.12 <u>Duties and Powers</u>. Except as specifically provided otherwise in the North Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act, the North Carolina Planned Community Act, the Declaration, the Articles of Incorporation of the Association or these Bylaws, all powers inherent in or expressly granted to the Association may be exercised by the Board of Directors, acting through the officers of the Association, without any further consent or action on the part of the Members. The Board of Directors shall also have the responsibility of discharging all of the duties imposed upon the Board of Directors under the terms and provisions of the aforesaid instruments. By way of explanation, but not limitation, the Board of Directors shall have the power to and shall be responsible for the following:
- (a) preparation and adoption of an annual budget, in which there shall be established the contribution of each class of Members to the Annual Expenses;
- (b) making assessments to defray the Annual Expenses, establishing the means and methods of collecting such assessments, and establishing the due dates and period of the payments of the annual assessment;
- (c) providing for the operation, care, upkeep, and maintenance of all of the Area of Common Responsibility as defined in the Declaration;
- (d) designating, hiring, and dismissing the personnel necessary for the operation of the Association and the maintenance, repair, and replacement of the Area of Common Responsibility, and, where appropriate, providing for the compensation of such personnel and for the purchase of equipment, supplies, and material to be used by such personnel in the performance of their duties;
- (e) collecting the assessments and other fees or charges, depositing the proceeds thereof in a financial depository or institution which it shall approve, or otherwise investing the proceeds in accordance with any limitations set forth in the North Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act, and using the proceeds to administer the Association;
- (f) making and amending rules and regulations and imposing sanctions for violation thereof, including reasonable monetary fines as provided herein;
- (g) suspending the membership rights of any Member of the Association, including the right to vote and use the Common Areas and the facilities located thereon, during the period of time such Member shall be delinquent in the payment of any assessment, assessment installment, or any other

amount or amounts as shall be due and payable to the Association, or shall fail to comply with or abide by any rule or regulation adopted by the Board of Directors in regard to the Common Areas;

- (h) opening of bank or other financial accounts on behalf of the Association and designating the signatories required;
- (i) making or contracting for the making of repairs, additions, and improvements to, or alterations of the Area of Common Responsibility in accordance with the other provisions of the Declaration and these Bylaws, after damage or destruction by fire or other casualty;
- (j) enforcing by legal means the provisions of the Declaration, these Bylaws, and the rules and regulations adopted by it, and bringing any proceedings which may be instituted on behalf of or against the Members concerning the Association;
- (k) obtaining and carrying insurance against casualties and liabilities, as provided in the Act and the Declaration, and paying the premium cost thereof;
- (l) paying the costs of all services rendered to the Association or its Members and not directly chargeable to specific Members;
- (m) keeping books with detailed accounts of the receipts and expenditures affecting the Association and its administration, specifying the maintenance and repair expenses and any other expenses recurred and
- (n) contracting with any Person for the performance of various duties and functions. The Board shall have the power to enter into common management agreements with trusts or other associations or corporations. Any and all functions of the Association shall be fully transferable by the Board, in whole or in part, to any other entity.
- (o) establishing an office and/or post office box as may be necessary for the transaction of the business of the Association.
- Section 4.13 <u>Management Agent</u>. The Board may, but is not required to, hire a professional management agent or agents, at a compensation established by the Board, to perform such duties and services as the Board of Directors shall authorize. The Board shall use reasonable efforts in any management contract to provide for termination of such contract with or without cause and without penalty, upon no more than thirty (30) days written notice, and for a term not in excess of one (1) year. The Board may delegate to one of its members the authority to act on behalf of the Board on all matters relating to the duties of the managing agent which might arise between meetings of the Board.
- Section 4.14 <u>Borrowing</u>. The Board of Directors shall have the power to borrow money for any legal purpose subject to the approval of a two-thirds (2/3) of the Members present and voting in

person or by proxy at a duly called meeting or by ballot. The pledge of assets of the corporation is limited in the Declaration and by law.

Section 4.15 <u>Committees</u>. The Board shall have the authority to establish such committees as the Board may determine with such powers and duties that the Board shall authorize. The members of all committees shall be appointed by the Board of Directors and shall serve at the pleasure of the Board. Any committee member may be removed with or without cause at any time and with or without a successor being named.

Each committee shall make recommendations to the Board of Directors with respect to the matters within the jurisdiction of such committee. The Board of Directors shall consider the recommendations of the committees in managing the affairs of the Association. The committees shall have no authority to transact business on behalf of the Association or to bind the Association, which authority is vested exclusively in the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE V: OFFICERS

- Section 5.1 <u>General Provisions</u>. The officers of the Association shall consist of a President, a Vice President, a Secretary and a Treasurer. In addition, the Association shall have such other officers as the Board of Directors shall deem to be desirable in connection with the administration of the affairs of the Association. Any two or more offices may be held by the same persons, except the offices of President and Secretary.
- Section 5.2 <u>Appointment</u>. All of the officers of the Association shall be appointed by, and shall serve at the pleasure of, a majority of the members of the Board of Directors.
- Section 5.3 <u>President</u>. The President shall be the chief executive officer of the Association, and shall preside at all meetings of the Members and of the Board of Directors. The President shall manage, supervise and control all of the business and affairs of the Association, and shall have all of the powers and duties which are incident to the office of the president of a corporation organized under the North Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act.
- Section 5.4 <u>Vice President</u>. The Vice President shall perform the duties of the President whenever the President shall be absent or unable to perform such duties. If neither the President nor the Vice President shall be able to perform such duties, the Board of Directors shall appoint one of their members to act in the place of the President on an interim basis. The Vice President shall also perform such other duties as the President may delegate to him from time to time.
- Section 5.5 <u>Secretary</u>. The Secretary (a) shall attend all meetings of the Members and of the Board of Directors and shall keep the minutes thereof, (b) shall be responsible for the preparation and giving of all notices which are required to be given by the Declaration and these Bylaws, (c) shall perform the responsibilities of the Secretary under these Bylaws, (d) shall be the custodian of the books and records of the Association, (e) shall keep a register of the addresses of each Member of

the Association, and (f) shall perform such other duties as are incident to the office of the secretary of a corporation organized under the North Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act.

Section 5.6 <u>Treasurer</u>. The Treasurer shall be charged with the management of the financial affairs of the Association, and shall keep full and accurate financial records and books of account showing all receipts and disbursements and of the Association, and shall prepare all required financial data. The Treasurer shall also perform all of the duties which are incident to the office of the treasurer of a corporation organized under the North Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act.

Section 5.7 <u>Compensation of Officers</u>. The officers of the Association shall be entitled to the payment of such compensation as shall be approved by two-thirds (2/3) of the total members of the Board of Directors; provided, however, that prior to the termination of the Class B membership, in no event shall any officer receive any compensation from the Association for serving in such capacity. The officers shall, however, be entitled to reimbursement for reasonable expenses incurred by them in the performance of their duties upon Board approval of such expenses.

ARTICLE VI: MISCELLANEOUS

Section 6.1 <u>Fiscal Year</u>. The fiscal year of the Association shall be selected by the Board. Unless otherwise selected, the fiscal year shall be the calendar year.

Section 6.2 <u>Certain Notices</u>. Any Member who shall sell or lease any Lot in which he has a fee or undivided fee interest shall promptly give the Secretary a written notice of such sale or lease, which notice shall also set forth the name and address of such purchaser or lessee. The address so furnished for such purchaser or lessee shall be the address to which the Secretary shall send any notices to be sent to such purchaser or lessee, until such purchaser or lessee shall furnish the Secretary with another address for such purpose.

ARTICLE VII: <u>AMENDMENTS</u>

For as long as the Class B membership shall not have terminated, the Declarant will have the right to unilaterally amend these bylaws. After the Class B membership has terminated, these Bylaws may be amended only in accordance with the following procedure: the Board of Directors shall first adopt a resolution proposing the amendment and recommending its adoption by the Members. Such proposed amendment shall then be presented to the Members at a meeting thereof duly called and held for the purpose of considering such proposed amendment. If such proposed amendment is approved by at least two-thirds (2/3) of the votes cast at such meeting, such amendment shall become effective; provided, however that the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (if it is then guaranteeing any Mortgage secured by any Lot and its regulations require) and/or the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (if it is then insuring any Mortgage secured by any Lot and its regulations require) shall have the right to veto material amendments to these Bylaws for as long as the Class B membership shall not have terminated.

ARTICLE VIII: INDEMNIFICATION

Each person who is or was a director or officer of the Association, shall be indemnified by the Association against those expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement which are allowed to be paid or reimbursed by the Association under the laws of the State of North Carolina and which are actually and reasonably incurred in connection with any action, suit or proceeding, pending or threatened, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, in which such person may be involved by reason of his being or having been a director of officer of the Association. Such indemnification shall be made only in accordance with the laws of the State of North Carolina and subject to the conditions prescribed therein.

In any instance where the laws of the State of North Carolina permit indemnification to be provided to persons who are or have been an officer or director of the Association only on a determination that certain specified standards of conduct have been met, upon application for indemnification by any such person the Association shall promptly cause such determination to be made (i) by the Board of Directors by majority vote of a quorum consisting of directors not at the time parties to the proceeding; (ii) if a quorum cannot be obtained, by majority vote of a committee duly designated by the Board of Directors (in which designation directors who are parties may participate), consisting solely of two or more directors not at the time parties to the proceeding; (iii) by special legal counsel selected by the Board of Directors or its committee in the manner prescribed in (i) or (ii), or if a quorum of the Board of Directors cannot be obtained under (i), and a committee cannot be designated under (ii), selected by majority vote of the full Board of Directors (in which selection directors who are parties may participate); or (iv) by the Members, but Members who are also directors who are at the time parties to the proceeding may not vote on the determination.

As a condition to any such right of indemnification, the Association may require that it be permitted to participate in the defense of any such action or proceeding through legal counsel designated by the Association and at the expense of the Association.

The Association may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any such persons whether or not the Association would have the power to indemnify such officers and directors against any liability under the laws of the State of North Carolina. If any expenses or other amounts are paid by way of indemnification, other than by court order, action by the Members or by an insurance carrier, the Association shall provide notice of such payment to the Members in accordance with the provisions of the laws of the State of North Carolina.

CERTIFICATION OF BYLAWS

I, the undersigned, do hereby certify:

That I am the Incorporator of Mendenhall Mill Homeowners Association, Inc., a North Carolina non-profit corporation;

That the foregoing By-Laws constitute the original By-Laws of said Association, as duly adopted.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto subscribed my name and affixed my seal of said Association this 26 day of April, 2006.

Name: J. Robert Wright,

Title: Incorporator

ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION

MENDENHALL MILL HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC.

I.

The name of the corporation (the "Corporation") is:

Mendenhall Mill Homeowners Association, Inc.

II.

The initial registered office of the Corporation shall be:

10400 Mallard Creek Road, Suite 250 Charlotte, North Carolina 28262 Mecklenburg County

Ш.

The mailing address of the initial registered office of the Corporation is:

10400 Mallard Creek Road, Suite 250 Charlotte, North Carolina 28262

IV.

The initial registered agent of the Corporation shall be J. Robert Wright, Jr.

V.

The name and address of the incorporator is:

J. Robert Wright, Jr. 10400 Mallard Creek Road, Suite 250 Charlotte, North Carolina 28262

VI.

The Corporation shall have two (2) classes of Members as provided in the bylaws of the Corporation (the "Bylaws"). Members shall have the voting rights as provided in the Bylaws.

VII.

The Corporation shall have perpetual duration.

VIII.

The purposes for which the corporation is organized are to provide for the ownership, management and operation of the "Area of Common Responsibility" (as that term is defined in the Declaration of Covenants, Restrictions and Easements for Mendenhall Mill which is or will be recorded with the Guilford County Register of Deeds (the "Declaration"); the enforcement of the covenants and restrictions set forth in the Declaration, and to levy assessments against the members of the Corporation in accordance with the terms and provisions of the Declaration in order to raise the funds required by the Corporation to defray expenses which the Corporation shall incur in carrying out such purposes.

IX.

The Corporation is organized as a nonprofit, nonstock, membership corporation for the sole purpose of performing certain functions for the common good and general welfare of the residents of that certain residential subdivision development (the "Development") in Guilford County, North Carolina, commonly known as "Mendenhall Mill." The Corporation shall have no power or duty to do or perform any act or thing other than those acts and things which will promote in some way the common good and general welfare of the residents of the Development. To the extent, and only to the extent, necessary to carry out such purpose, the Corporation (a) shall have all of the powers of a corporation organized under the North Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Code and (b) shall have the power and duty to exercise all of the rights, powers and privileges and to perform all of the duties and obligations of the Corporation as set forth in the Bylaws and in the Declaration. Unless otherwise defined herein, all capitalized terms

in these Articles of Incorporation shall have the same meaning as ascribed to such capitalized terms in the Bylaws.

No part of the net earnings, gains or assets or assets of the Corporation shall inure to the benefit of or be distributable to its directors, officers, other private individuals, or organizations organized and operated for a profit (except that the Corporation shall be authorized and empowered to pay reasonable compensation for services rendered and to make payments and distributions in furtherance of the purposes of the Corporation as herein stated). No substantial part of the activities of the Corporation shall be the direct or indirect participation or intervention in political campaigns on behalf of or in opposition to any candidate for public office. Notwithstanding any other provision of these Articles of Incorporation, the Corporation shall not carry on any activities not permitted to be carried on by a corporation exempt for federal income tax under Section 501(c)(6) and Section 528 of the Internal Revenue Code, or corresponding section of any future federal tax code.

Upon the dissolution of the corporation, the Board of Directors shall, after paying or making provision for the payment of all of the liabilities of the corporation, dispose of all of the assets of the corporation exclusively for the purposes of the corporation in such manner, or to such organization or organizations organized and operated exclusively for religious, charitable, educational, scientific or literary purposes as shall at the time qualify as an exempt organization or organizations under the Code as the Board of Directors shall determine or to federal, state, or local governments to be used exclusively for public purposes. Any such assets not so disposed of shall be disposed of by the Superior Court of the county in which the principal office of the corporation is then located, exclusively for such purposes or to such organizations, as such court

shall determine, which are organized and operated exclusively for such purposes, or to such governments for such purposes.

X.

No director of the Corporation shall be personally liable to the Corporation or its members for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty of care or other duty as a director, except that this Article X shall not eliminate or limit the liability of a director: (i) for any appropriation, in violation of his duties, of any business opportunity of the Corporation; (ii) for acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law; or (iii) for any transaction from which the director derives an improper personal benefit. Neither the amendment nor repeal of this Article X, nor the adoption of any provision of these Articles of Incorporation inconsistent with this Article X, shall eliminate or reduce the effect of this Article X in respect of any act or failure to act, or any cause of action, suit or claim that, but for this Article X, would accrue or arise prior to any amendment, repeal or adoption of such an inconsistent provision. If the North Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Code is subsequently amended to provide for further limitations on the personal liability of directors of corporations for breach of duty of care or other duty as a director, then the personal liability of the directors of the Corporation shall be so further limited to the greatest extent permitted by the North Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Code.

XI.

These Articles of Incorporation may be amended only upon a resolution, duly adopted by the Board of Directors, the affirmative vote of members other than the Declarant who own at least two-thirds (2/3rds) of the Lots, and the consent of the Declarant, so long as the Declarant owns any Lot.

XII.

The address and county of the principal office of the Corporation is:

10400 Mallard Creek Road, Suite 250 Charlotte, North Carolina 28262 Mecklenburg County

XIII.

These Articles shall be effective upon filing.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed these Articles of Incorporation

on APRIL 12, 2006.

MENDENHALL MILL HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC., a North Carolina Nonprofit Corporation

WRITTEN CONSENT OF SOLE INCORPORATION IN LIEU OF ORGANIZATIONAL MEETING AS OF February , 2006

The undersigned, being the sole incorporation of Mendenhall Mill Homeowners Association, Inc., a North Carolina nonprofit corporation (the "Corporation"), and acting in accordance with Section 55A-2-05 of the North Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act (the "Corporation Code"), hereby takes the following actions and adopts the following resolutions by written consent in lieu of a meeting, and directs that this written consent be filed in the minute book of the Corporation:

RESOLVED, that the Bylaws attached hereto as Exhibit A are approved and adopted as the Bylaws of the Corporation.

RESOLVED, that the following persons be, and hereby are, appointed as directors of the Corporation to serve as such until their successors shall have been duly appointed and qualified.

J. Robert Wright, Jr.

J. Taylor Bush

Charlene Manseau

RESOLVED, that the following persons are elected to the following offices to have the responsibilities and duties established in the Bylaws:

President:

J. Robert Wright, Jr.

Vice President: Charlene Manseau

Secretary:

Charlene Manseau

Treasurer:

J. Robert Wright, Jr.

RESOLVED, that the Articles of Incorporation of the Corporation, filed with the Secretary of State of North Carolina, are approved and accepted, and the Secretary of the Corporation is directed to place a copy thereof in the minute book of the Corporation.

RESOLVED, that the Secretary of the Corporation is authorized to approve a corporate seal of the Corporation.

RESOLVED, that the fiscal year of the Corporation will be fixed by the Board of Directors.

RESOLVED, that the President or the Treasurer of the Corporation is each authorized:

- (a) to designate such bank or banks as depositories (the "Depository" or "Depositories") for the funds of the Corporation as either of them may deem necessary or advisable;
- (b) to open, keep, and close general and special bank accounts (the "Accounts") and safe deposit boxes with any Depository;
- (c) to cause to be deposited in the Accounts from time to time such funds of the Corporation as such officer may deem necessary or advisable;
- (d) to designate from time to time officers and agents of the Corporation authorized to sign or countersign checks, drafts, or other orders for the payment of money issued in the name of the Corporation against the Accounts; and
- (e) to make such general and special rules and regulations with respect to the Accounts (including, without limitation, authorization for use of facsimile signatures) as such officer may deem necessary or advisable.

If any Depository requires a prescribed form or forms of resolutions relating to the Accounts or to any application, statement, instrument, or other documents connected with the Accounts, the resolutions contained in any such prescribed form will be deemed to be adopted by the Board of Directors, and the Secretary or any Assistant Secretary, if there is one, of the Corporation is authorized to certify the adoption of any such resolution as though it were presented to the Board of Directors at the same time as this written consent, and to insert all such resolutions in the minute book of the Corporation.

RESOLVED, that the following officers and employees of the Corporation are hereby provided the same indemnification and other rights as provided to the Corporation's directors pursuant to the Corporation's Articles and Bylaws (subject to the conditions, limitations and obligations specified therein): President, Vice President, Secretary, and Treasurer.

RESOLVED, that the President (or any other officer authorized by the President) is authorized to take such steps as may be necessary to accomplish an election to have the Corporation treated as a Sec. 501(c)(6) or a Sec. 528 nonprofit corporation within the meaning of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, including the filing with the Internal Revenue Service of such properly completed and executed forms and documents as the President (or such authorized officer) may deem necessary or advisable if such an election is made.

Executed this 26 day of April, 2006 and effective as of the day and year first above written.

J. Robert Wright, Jr., Ingerporator